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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The 01d Brick Church in Athens, Vermont stands on a gently sloping hillside a short dis-
tance north of a five-corner intersection between Vermont Route 35 and Town Highways 11,
12 and 18. A scattered settlement of houses formerly referred to as '"Middletown' occu-
pies the vicinity of the church. Set at the uphill (north) end of its rectangular lot,
the church is oriented parallel to Town Highway 18 and overlooks the valley to the south.
Low stone walls bound the north and east sides of the open grassy church yard next to the
adjoining woods, while a row of large maple trees shelters the yard from the narrow gravel
town road.

Built on a rectangular plan of 39 feet by 58 feet, the O0ld Brick Church rises two-and-one-
half stories above its-rubblestone foundation, 1nc0rporat1ng both brick and wood framing
in its shell. The three public elevations (exposed to the church yard on the west, south,
and east) are constructed of brick laid in Flemish bond; the rear (north) elevation (next
to the lot line and woods) 'is wood-framed and sheathed with clapboards now painted red.
The gable roof is shingled with slate, and an interior brick chimney with a pointed-arch
cap raises through the ridge near its north end.

The three-bay main (south) elevation of the church is dominated by a truncated central
tower that projects almost its full depth outward from the facade. Each bay of the first
story is occupied by a semi-elliptical-arched doorway; a fanlight distinguishes the unused
tower doorway (also lighted by a 20-pane window in the door itself) from the side doorways
with their blind transoms and paneled doors. On the second story, twelve-over-twelve sash
windows with splayed brick lintels and wood sills are aligned above the doorways. The
wood cornice return of the pediment encircles the tower; above the cornice return, both
the gable and the tower are wood-framed and clapboarded The third story of the tower,
lighted by a single twelve-over-twelve sash window, rises slightly above the main roof-
line -and-is capped by a gdble roof orientéd parallel to the main roof.

The six-bay side ‘(east and west) elevations of the church display symmetrically arranged
fenestration matching the windows on the main facade. On the rear elevation, a round-
headed window with intersecting tracery is centered in the second ‘story while two corner
windows punctuate the first story.

The exterior of the 0ld Brick Church remains in its original appearance except for the top
of the tower. Originally the tower rose to an extended third story capped by a flat roof
with a prominent cornice; the perimeter of the roof was defined by corner pinnacles and
connecting honeycomb-pattern balustrades, It is not known when or why the tower was alterec
to its present state.

The interior of the church has been altered (probably circa 1860) by the horizontal sub-
division of the original hall into two separate floors. The original high pulpit, box
pews, and galleries have been removed, probably at the time of the spatial alteration.
The upper floor was used for town meetings until the 1970's; the main floor retains reli-
- gious furnishings but has not been used for services since 1945.
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The 01d Brick Church in Athens, Vermont represents the architectural transition from the

‘eighteenth century New England meetlnghouse to the nlneteenth century church.

The over-

all design and layout of the church constitutes a vernacular 1nterpretat10n of traditional
church form while the original furnishings (now removed) were derived from the New England

meetinghouse.

Built in a rural hamlet during an era when most Vermont churches were con-

structed of wood, the material of the 01d Brick Church reflects its stature as the hub of
a Methodist preacher circuit that extended through twelve towns in three Vermont counties.
The church now ranks among the few major nineteenth century buildings in Vermont that have
not been altered by the installation of electricity and other mechanical services.

The Methodist Society in Athens was founded in 1801, followed soon by the development of a
circuit traveled by a preacher to serve the surrounding communities.

Circuit comprised twelve towns:
derry, Landgrove, Weston, Windham, Chester, Springfield, and Mount Holly.
generally held in private houses,

By 1812, the Athens

Athens, Grafton, Rockingham, Putney, Townshend, London-

barns, or even outdoors.

Services were

Meanwhile, the population of Athens increased to several hundred, and in 1817 the need
for a permanent place of worship culminated in the construction of the brick church on the

hillside in "Middletown.'

The church was furnished with the high pulpit, box pews, and

large galleries characteristic of the New England meetinghouse but those :elements.were
arranged on the long axis in the manner of the traditional Anglican church, whose form by

then had superseded the meetinghouse in New England religious architecture. .
church records reveal that 114 residents of Athens were enrolled in membership.

By 1820,
Quarterly

Conferences were held at the church and attracted as many as 500 participants from the cir-

cuit towns.

Subsequent development in Athens favored the valley to the east where the hamlet of Athens

emerged to rival the Middletown settlement.

In 1859, a new Methodist church (called the

"White Church'") was built in the valley and religious use of the 0l1d Brick Church began to

decline.

tions in the summer.

and the high pulpit, box pews,
Religious services were eventually discontinued except for special celebra-

Probably during this period, the interior of the church was altered to provide a
second-floor meeting hall for town assemblies,
were removed.

and galleries

In 1924, the 01d Brick Meeting House Association was organized for the purpose of repair-
The group succeeded in refurbishing the first floor by

ing and preserving the building.
1931; however, fifteen years later the summer services ended.
Church remained uncertain until the Town of Athens took formal possession in 1951.

Ownership of the 01d Brick

Town

meetings continued in the upper floor until shifted to a modern building in the middle

1970's.
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Currently (1979) the 0ld Brick Church is maintained in good condition. Although it has
lost some original features, the building possesses enough of its original fabric to re-
tain its architectural significance. The natural setting of the church also shows little
disturbance or mechanical intrusion. This blend of architectural and environmental inte-
grity enables the Old Brick Church to evoke to an extraordinary extent its early nine-

teenth century character and its associations with the early development and social his-
tory of the area.

The property being nominated to the National Register consists of the 0ld Brick Church and
its original churchyard of approximately one acre.



